# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

2010- CA- 00409	
LORI LYNN WALLEY AND CHRISTOPHER BLAKE WALLEY	APPELLANTS
VS.	
KATHY LYNN PIERCE AND TONY CURTIS PIERCE	APPELLEES
BRIEF OF APPELLANTS	
Oral Argument Not Requested	d

Appeal from the Chancery Court of Greene County, Mississippi

Chris D. Hennis (MSB #P.O. Box 505 Raleigh, Mississippi 39153 (601) 782-4587

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANTS

### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

2010- CA- 00409

LORI LYNN WALLEY AND CHRISTOPHER BLAKE WALLEY

**APPELLANTS** 

VS.

KATHY LYNN PIERCE AND TONY CURTIS PIERCE

**APPELLEES** 

### Certificate of Interested Persons

# Statement Of The Issues

- Whether the trial court committed manifest error in finding that Lori and Blake
   Walley had unreasonably denied visitation with their children to Kathy and Tony Pierce.
- 2. Whether the trial court committed manifest error in failing to accord special weight to Lori and Blake Walley's determination as to the amount and type of visitation Kathy and Tony Pierce should have with their children.
- 3. Whether the trial court's application of the Mississippi Grandparent Visitation Act violated Lori and Blake's constitutional rights under the Fourteenth Amendment.

#### Statement Of The Case

### 1. Nature Of The Case.

This is a grandparent visitation case involving Lori Lynn Walley and Christopher Blake Walley (hereinafter referred to as "Lori and Blake" or "the Walleys") and Lori's parents Kathy Lynn Pierce and Tony Pierce (hereinafter referred to as "Kathy and Tony" or "the Pierces"). Lori and Blake are the parents of three children: namely, Melonie Walley, age 6, Juliana Walley, age 4, and Rachel Walley, age 9-1/2 months at the time of trial. Kathy and Tony Pierce are the maternal grandparents of these children. All parties are adult resident citizens of Greene County, Mississippi.

All parties, with the exception of Lori, work at Performance Industries in Pascagoula,

Mississippi. Lori has always been a stay at home mother and housewife. Lori also home schools the
two oldest children.

At the time of trial Lori and Blake had been married approximately eight years. From the time of their marriage until October 2008, Lori and Blake resided in a mobile home located on Kathy and Tony's property. In October 2008, due to animosity then existing between the parties, Lori and Blake moved from Kathy and Tony's property into a rental home. At the time of trial, Lori and Blake had purchased their own home.

At the trial, Lori and Blake stipulated that Kathy and Tony had established a viable relationship with their minor children, however, they disputed that they had unreasonably denied visitation with the children to Kathy and Tony Pierce.

# 2. Course Of The Proceedings.

On February 11, 2009, Kathy and Tony filed a Petition for Grandparents Visitation Rights against Lori and Blake in the Chancery Court of Greene County, Mississippi. Kathy and Tony alleged that Lori and Blake had unreasonably denied them visitation with their grandchildren. On

March 19, 2009, Lori and Blake filed their Answer and Affirmative Defenses denying that Kathy and Tony were entitled to visitation with their children. On April 6, 2009, the parties entered into an Agreed Temporary Order which allowed Kathy and Tony temporary supervised visitation with the grandchildren. The Agreed Temporary Order also provided that Kathy and Tony would pay unto Lori and Blake \$1,000.00 in reasonable attorney's fees.

The trial of this cause was had on November 30, 2009, at the Greene County Courthouse. The trial court, in its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, Ruling and Judgment of the Court, dated December 4, 2009 and filed on December 8, 2009, granted Kathy and Tony extensive unsupervised visitation with Lori and Blake's minor children.

On December 16, 2009, Lori and Blake timely filed their Motion for Reconsideration, For Relief from the Judgment and to Amend the Judgment. In their post trial motions, Lori and Blake asked that the trial court reconsider its judgment concerning its finding that they had unreasonably denied visitation with their children to Kathy and Tony Pierce. Lori and Blake, in support of their Motion to Reconsider, directed the trial court's attention to testimony elicited at the trial showing that Kathy and Tony Pierce had an open invitation to visit the children at Lori and Blake's home. That Kathy and Tony had been allowed to see the children since Lori and Blake had moved off of the Pierce's property. That Kathy had visited with the children at Lori and Blake's home on occasions when Blake was at work. Finally, the trial court was reminded that Lori and the children had actually rode to town with Tony Pierce to grocery shop, buy horse feed and eat lunch.

The trial court was also asked to reconsider its judgment in light of the applicable Mississippi case law on point when a chancery court is faced with awarding visitation to grandparents over the objections of fit custodial parents. The trial court was reminded that there was no allegations made and no finding by the court that Lori and Blake were unfit parents. Lori and Blake also asked the

trial court to reconsider its judgment and took issue with the trial court's finding of fact regarding Lori and Blake's refusal to allow unsupervised visitation with their children to Kathy and Tony.

Lori and Blake finally asked the trial court to amend its award of visitation to Kathy and Tony Pierce due to the fact that part of the summer visitation awarded to the Pierce's coincided with the oldest child's birthday.

On January 29, 2010, a hearing was held on Lori and Blake's post trial motions. The trial court in its Judgment entered on February 3, 2010, denied Lori and Blake's motion to reconsider and granted their Motion to Amend the Judgment in part. On March 3, 2010, Lori and Blake timely perfected their appeal to this Court.

### 3. Disposition In The Court Below.

The trial court found that Lori and Blake had unreasonably denied visitation with their children to Kathy and Tony Pierce. (R.E. 100). That was error.

The trial court failed to accord special weight to Lori and Blake's determination as to the amount and type of visitation Kathy and Tony Pierce should have with their children. (R.E. 100). That was error.

The trial court granted Kathy and Tony Pierce extensive, unsupervised visitation with Lori and Blake's minor children. That also was error.

This appeal followed.

#### 4. Statement Of The Facts.

Lori and Blake are the married custodial parents of three children: namely, Melonie Walley, age 6, Juliana Walley, age 4, and Rachel Walley, was born during this litigation and was 9-1/2 months old at the time of trial. Kathy and Tony Pierce are Lori's natural mother and father and the maternal grandparents of these children. All parties are adult resident citizens of Greene County, Mississippi.

All parties, with the exception of Lori, work at Performance Industries in Pascagoula,

Mississippi. Lori has always been a stay at home mother and housewife. Lori also home schools the
two oldest children.

At the time of trial, Lori and Blake had been married approximately eight years. From the time of their marriage until October 2008, Lori and Blake resided in a mobile home located on Kathy and Tony's property. Due to Lori and Blake living on Kathy and Tony's property, the Pierces saw their grandchildren on an almost daily basis and enjoyed a close relationship with the children. Lori is a stay at home mother and house wife and she home schools the two oldest children. Lori and Blake are very involved in their children's lives. They enjoy spending time together as a family when Blake is off from work on the weekends. The Walleys and their children are very involved in church and attend church with their children every time the doors are open.

Early in 2008, there was a physical altercation between Lori and her mother-in-law and her then seventeen year old sister-in-law. Blake had to intervene to stop the physical altercation. Later in 2008, at a horse show in Greene County, there was another physical altercation this time between Blake's now eighteen year old sister and Lori's mother, Kathy Pierce, who had come to the horse show to confront Blake's sister.

As a result of these physical altercations, there were charges and counter-charges filed between the Pierce's and Walley's. These charges were eventually dropped by all involved. Lori and her mother-in-law and sister-in-law were able to work out their differences and mend their relationships. The relationship between the Walleys and Kathy Pierce did not improve. In October 2008, due to animosity existing between the parties, Lori and Blake moved from Kathy and Tony's property into a rental home.

After Lori and Blake moved they only allowed Kathy and Tony visitation with their children at their home or when Lori went to Kathy and Tony's home. This restriction placed on the Pierce's visitation with the minor children by Lori and Blake was due to the animosity existing between the parties. Lori and Blake were also concerned for their children's safety due to an unfenced, in-ground swimming pool that had recently been constructed on the Pierce's property. Despite the ongoing animosity, the Pierces spent several hours at Lori and Blake's home for Christmas 2008. On several occasions after Lori and Blake moved, Kathy Pierce came to Lori and Blake's new home while Blake was working and visited with Lori and the children. Lori and the children, on one occasion, rode to Lumberton with Tony Pierce to shop for groceries, buy horse feed and eat lunch. In November 2008, Lori and the children went to the Pierce's home to celebrate Lori's birthday and spent most of the day there. Lori and the children also spent part of New Year's Day in 2009 at the Pierce's home.

Lori and Blake are by all accounts fit, loving parents to their children. This fact was admitted to by Kathy and Tony Pierce.

# Summary of the Argument

For a trial court to award grandparent visitation under the section of our grandparent visitation statute applicable in this case, it must first find that the grandparents have established a viable relationship with their grandchildren. The trial court is then required to find that the parents of the minor children have unreasonably denied the grandparents visitation with the grandchildren. The Walleys stipulated that Lori's parents had a viable relationship with their children. Therefore, the trial court had to next determine whether or not Lori and Blake had unreasonably denied the Pierces visitation with their children.

The trial court erred in its determination that Lori and Blake had unreasonably denied the Pierces visitation with their children. The trial court's finding of fact regarding this issue is not supported by the testimony elicited at the trial. The trial court was required to accord special weight to Lori and Blake decision to restrict the Pierces visitation with their children. There was no allegation and no finding by the trial court that Lori and Blake are anything but fit, loving parents.

The trial court erred in awarding Kathy and Tony Pierce such extensive, forced and unsupervised visitation with Lori and Blake's minor children. Applicable case law from the United States Supreme Court and the Mississippi Supreme Court, as well as good sound public policy dictates that such breathtakingly liberal visitation cannot be ordered over fit parents' objections absent a finding of near unfitness of the custodial parents. There was no such finding by the trial court and therefore, the trial court committed manifest error and abused its discretion and violated Lori and Blake's due process rights under the Fourteenth Amendment in its award of such liberal unsupervised visitation rights to the Pierces with Lori and Blake's minor children.

### Argument

The trial court was required to give special weight to Lori and Blake Walley's determination of whether Kathy and Tony Pierce should have visitation with their children and how much visitation they should be allowed with their children.

I. Mississippi Code Annotated § 93-16-3(2)(a) Requires A Trial Court To First Determine That A Grandparent Has Established A Viable Relationship With A Grandchild And Then The Trial Court Must Find That The Parent Of The Child Has Unreasonably Denied The Grandparent Visitation With The Child.

The Walleys stipulated that Kathy and Tony Pierce had established a viable relationship with their minor children. Lori and Blake stipulated to this even though the youngest child was only a new born infant when this litigation was commenced. Miss. Code Ann. § 93-16-3(2)(a) (Rev. 2004)

requires that the trial court specifically find that the custodian or parents of a child have unreasonably denied the grandparent visitation with the grandchild. Also, the United States Supreme Court has recognized that there is a "presumption that fit parents act in the best interest of their children." Troxel v. Granville, 530 U.S. 57, 68, 120 S.Ct. 2054, 2061 (2000).

In a 2001 case that is factually similar to the present case, the Mississippi Supreme Court had to determine if a chancellor had manifestly erred in awarding unsupervised visitation to grandparents over the objections of the fit, married custodial parents. Stacey v. Ross, 798 So.2d 1275 (Miss. 2001). As in the present case, the parents in Stacey stipulated that the grandparents had established a viable relationship with the grandchild. Id. at 1280. The Stacey Court reversed and rendered the visitation granted by the chancellor to the grandparents and found that the custodial parents had not unreasonably denied visitation to grandparents. Id. at 1284. The Court recognized that there had been a deterioration in the relationship between the parents and grandparents that had led to at least one physical altercation and also that the parents had been willing to allow some visitation. Id. at 1282. The court also recognized that the trial court had showed little regard for the wishes of the fit parents. Id. at 1280-81. The trial court in the case sub judice also showed little regard for the wishes of Lori and Blake.

In another factually similar case, the Mississippi Court of Appeals affirmed a chancellor's decision finding that the fit, married custodial parents had not unreasonably denied a grandparent visitation with her grandchildren. *Hillman v. Vance*, 910 So.2d 43 (Miss.Ct.App. 2005). The *Hillman* court agreed with the chancellor's finding that the parents had not been unreasonable in limiting the grandmother's visitation with the children considering the tension existing between the adult family members. *Id.* at 47.

Lori and Blake testified that they had to move from the Pierce's property due to Kathy's interference in their marriage and Kathy interjecting herself in their child rearing decisions. (Tr. at 32, 33, 45 and 54). Interestingly, the trial court was not even convinced that Kathy would refrain from interfering with Lori and Blake's decisions concerning their children. (R.E. 5 at 11) After Lori and Blake moved from the Pierce's property, this conduct by both Kathy and Tony continued. (Tr. at 14-15). Lori testified in open court that her mother had told her that the youngest child, Rachel Walley, was not born out of love. (Tr. at 47, 54). Kathy Pierce denied making this statement, however, Kathy's contempt and disdain for Blake and his family was obvious to all in the courtroom and is even evident from the reading of the cold, emotionless transcript of the trial proceedings. (Tr. at 22, 24).

Blake and Lori both testified of Kathy speaking negatively of Blake and his family in the presence of the minor children. (Tr. at 47, 54, 63 and 75). It was the united decision of Lori and Blake to limit Kathy and Tony's visitation with the grandchildren due to the conflict and animosity existing between the adult family members. (Tr. at 54). This is not an unreasonable position for fit, custodial parents to take when they are concerned with the best interest of their minor children.

The trial court also erred in finding Lori and Blake had unreasonably denied the Pierces visitation with the grandchildren because the trial transcript shows that they did not deny the Pierces contact with the grandchildren. The trial court even recognized that Lori and Blake were willing to allow the Pierces to exercise visitation. (R.E. 5 at 4). There was also no evidence that Lori and Blake intended to permanently deny the Pierces contact with the grandchildren. After Lori and Blake moved from the Pierces property, the Pierces continued to have contact and visitation with the children. (Tr. at 12, 24-5, 48, 49).

Kathy admitted that she came to Lori's home on several occasions to visit Lori and the children while Blake was at work. (Tr. at 24-5, 48). Lori testified that on one occasion she and the children rode to Lumberton, Mississippi, with Tony to buy horse feed, groceries and to eat lunch. (Tr. at 48). In November 2008, to celebrate her birthday, Lori and the children went to the Pierce's home and ate hamburgers. (Tr. at 48). Tony and Kathy admitted that they came to Lori and Blake's home for Christmas 2008, where Lori cooked them lunch and they then spent most of the afternoon there. (Tr. at 12, 25, 49). Even though the Pierces denied it at trial, Lori testified that she and the children went to the Pierces for part of the day on New Years Day 2009. Kathy was also at the Walley's home in the middle of January, 2009, just a couple of weeks prior to filing this action.

Lori and Blake did not stop all visitation between their children and the Pierces. Lori and Blake made a determination that it was in their children's best interest not to be with the Pierces unsupervised. Lori and Blake each testified that the Pierces were welcome to come to their home to visit the children and the Pierces admitted that they had never been told any different. (Tr. at 10, 11, 30, 57, 78).

Due to the conflict and animosity existing between the Walleys and Pierces, Lori and Blake's determination of how much visitation and where said visitation should take place is not unreasonable. The trial court's finding that Lori and Blake were acting out of spite is not supported by the testimony elicited at trial. (R.E. 5 at 5). Because the trial court committed manifest error in finding that Lori and Blake had unreasonably denied the Pierces visitation with the grandchildren, this Court must reverse and render the chancellor's award of visitation to the Pierces.

II. The Trial Court Committed Error And Abused It Discretion In Its Failure To Accord Special Weight To Lori And Blake Walley's Determination As To How Much Visitation Kathy And Tony Pierce Should Have With Their Children.

The United States Supreme Court has recognized that there is a "presumption that fit parents act in the best interest of their children." *Troxel v. Granville*, 530 U.S. 57, 68, 120 S.Ct. 2054, 2061 (2000). That Court also held that when a court is called on to second guess a fit parent's determination of whether it is in a child's best interest to have a relationship with a grandparent, "the court must accord at least some special weight to the parent's own determination." *Id.* at 70.

The Mississippi Supreme Court has held that "[p]arents with custody have a paramount right to control the environment, physical, social, and emotional, to which their children are exposed." Stacey v. Ross, 798 So.2d 1275, 1280 (Miss. 2001). The Stacey court further held that "[i]nterference with that right based upon anything less than compelling circumstances is not the intent of the visitation statute." Id. The court in Stacey also held that "forced, extensive unsupervised visitation cannot be ordered absent compelling circumstances which suggest something near unfitness of the custodial parents." Id.

In the present case, there was no allegation that Lori and Blake were unfit parents. In fact, Kathy and Tony each admitted that Lori and Blake were fit parents. (Tr. at 15, 40). There was no finding of fact by the trial court that Lori and Blake were unfit parents. Actually, quite the opposite was found by the trial court. The trial court found that Lori and Blake spend considerable time with their minor children, engage in many activities as a family unit, that they are involved in worship service and that Sundays are important to Lori, Blake and their children. (R.E. 5 at 5-6). The trial court accorded no weight to Lori and Blake's determination and showed no regard to their wishes in this case. This fact is indisputable given the breathtakingly liberal visitation granted to the Pierces by the trial court. The courts in *Troxel* and *Stacey* each took issue with the trial courts failure to consider

the wishes of the custodial parents in those cases. See Troxel v. Granville, 120 S.Ct. 2054, 2062 (2000); Stacey v. Ross, 798 So.2d 1275, 1280-81 (Miss. 2001). The trial court committed manifest error and abused its discretion.

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