IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

2010-CA-00409

LORI LYNN WALLEY AND CHRISTOPERH BLAKE WALLEY

APPELLANTS

VS.

KATHY LYNN PIERCE AND TONY CURTIS PIERCE

APPELLEES

Appeal from the Chancery Court of Greene County, Mississippi Cause No. 2009-22-RP

BRIEF OF THE APPELLEES

Oral Argument Not Requested

Joey Fillingane (MSB N Fillingane Law Firm, PLLC 6760 US Highway 98, Suite 1 Hattiesburg, Mississippi 39402 (601) 264-3323 – Telephone (601) 264-3363 – Facsimile

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEES

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

2010-CA-00409

LORI LYNN WALLEY AND CHRISTOPERH BLAKE WALLEY

APPELLANTS

VS.

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Greene County Chancery Court was presented with a classic case of parents who unreasonably deny their parents visitation with their grandchildren even though the grandparents had clearly established a viable relationship and had provided mountains of financial support for both their child and their grandchildren – providing them a free home for eight years.

The trial court went to great pains to accommodate the wishes of the Walleys herein, attempting to provide in the Agreed Temporary Order the version of visitation that the Walleys requested and are still fighting for in this appeal. The Temporary Order provided for only very limited supervised visitation, supervised by the Walleys themselves. That experiment proved to be an abject failure as the Walleys used this time to shadow the Pierces every move with their grandchildren as though they were criminals in need of ankle bracelets or constant video monitoring.

The Pierces have only asked for very limited unsupervised visits with their grandchildren like they had enjoyed for the entire lives of their grandchildren prior to the Walleys and Pierces having a falling out over a fight wherein Kathy Pierce was attempting to only protect her own daughter, Lori Walley, from her sister-in-law and mother-in-law. While it is a tragedy that the two families have allowed the tensions to sour the familial ties that existed at one time, the trial court determined that this conflict had nothing to do with the grandchildren and should not be used to destroy the viable relationship that existed between the Pierces and their grandchildren.

The Appellants argue that the trial court erred by awarding unsupervised visitation over the vehement objections of fit parents. Further, the Appellants allege that the trial court erred when it found that the Walleys had *unreasonably* denied the Pierces visitation rights with their grandchildren. Finally, the Appellants argue that the visitations awarded by the trial court are

extensive, forced and unsupervised and that this was error because the Walleys were not found to be unfit parents.

The Appellants either misunderstand the Mississippi Grandparent Visitation statute or simply believe it to be unconstitutional. It is clear that the Walleys do not like Mississippi Code Section 93-16-3(2)(a), but that does not mean that it is not the law nor that it is unconstitutional. The learned Chancellor Bordis rightly applied the applicable case law and statutory requirements to the present set of facts and did a masterful job of detailing why it was that he ruled as he did. His findings of facts and conclusions of law are right on point with both the jurisprudence of this Honorable Court and the letter and spirit of the statute allowing Mississippi Grandparents in some circumstances to ask the Chancery Court for visitation rights with their grandchildren.

ARGUMENT

Standard of Review

In the case of *Stacy v. Ross*, 798 So.2d 1275, 1278 (Miss. 2001) this Court held that "[a] limited standard of review is employed by this Court in reviewing decisions of a chancellor. *Reddell v. Reddell*, 696 So.2d 287, 288 (Miss. 1997). Findings will not be disturbed on review unless the chancellor abused his discretion, was manifestly wrong, or made a finding which was clearly erroneous. *Bank of Miss. v. Hollingsworth*, 609 So.2d 422, 424 (Miss. 1992). The Court reviews questions of law, however, under a de novo standard. *Zeman v. Stanford*, 789 So.2d 798, 802 (Miss. 2001).

I. Mississippi Code Annotated Section 93-16-3(2)(a) Requires a Trial Court to First Determine That a Grandparent has Established a Viable Relationship with a Grandchild and Then the Trial Court Must Find that the Parent of the Child has Unreasonably Denied the Grandparent Visitation with the Child.

The Appellants seek to make an issue of the findings of the trial court relative to the requirements of the clear intent of Mississippi's Grandparent Visitation Statute (Mississippi Code Section 93-16-3(2)(a)) where none exists. The requirements for satisfaction of the Grandparent Visitation statute in Mississippi could not be more clear or understandable.

Mississippi Code Annotated Section 93-16-3(2) and (3) states:

- (2) Any grandparent who is not authorized to petition for visitation rights pursuant to subsection (1) of this section may petition the chancery court and seek visitation rights with her or her grandchild, and the court may grant visitation rights to the grandparent, provided the court finds:
- (a) That the grandparent of the child had established a viable relationship with the child and the parent or custodian of the child unreasonably denied the grandparent visitation rights with the child; and
- (b) That visitation rights of the grandparent with the child would be in the best interests of the child.
- (3) For purposes of subsection (3) of this section, the term "viable relationship" means a relationship in which the grandparents or either of them have voluntarily and in good

faith supported the child financially in whole or in part for a period of not less than six (6) months before filing any petition for visitation rights with the child, the grandparents have had frequent visitation including occasional overnight visitation with said child for a period of not less than one (12) year, or the child has been cared for by the grandparents or either of them over a significant period of time during the time the parent has been in jail or on military duty that necessitates the absence of the parent from the home.

There are a couple of requirements under the above-cited statute that a grandparent must prove when seeking grandparent's visitation rights with their grandchildren. First, they must prove that there existed an established "viable relationship" between the grandparent and grandchild. Second, as part of the "viable relationship", subsection (3) defines further that the grandparent financially supported the grandchild.

In the present case, not only do the Appellants admit in their brief (Appellants Brief Page 7) that they (the Walleys) stipulated that the Pierces had established a viable relationship with their minor children (the grandchildren). Also, in the trial transcript (Trial Transcript Pages 3-4) the attorney for Appellants, stipulated that the viable relationship existed under the statute in the present case.

The Court: Are there any stipulations or pretrial statements to be made?

Mr. Hennis (Attorney for Appellants): Your Honor, we're going to stipulate that Mr. and Mrs. Pierce have a viable relationship with the children involved in this case.

The Court: Okay. So there does exist a viable relationship between the grandparents and the grandchildren; is that right?

Mr. Hennis: Yes, Your Honor.

The Court: Do you agree with that, sir?

Mr. Fillingane (Attorney for Appellees): Yes, sir.

The Court: Any other stipulations or statements?

Mr. Fillingane: Well, we're willing to stipulate, if not, we can put proof on, but there was also financial contributions towards the bringing up of the children, the grandchildren.

The Court: Is that a stipulation?

Mr. Hennis: Your Honor, I think that goes to the viable relationship. You either – that's part of the two-part test. You've either had an extensive visitation or you've provided financial support. That gets you to the viable relationship, so I think the viable relationship covers that.

Mr. Fillingane: Just want to be sure.

The Court: Okay. Thank you....

There was much other testimony from all sides that I will not belabor this Honorable

Court with that went into minute detail about the type of loving, intensive relationship that the

Pierces had established with their grandchildren over many years of living only a yard apart from
them. However, as the Appellants (and their attorney) both stipulated both at trial and in their
brief that such a viable relationship existed, I will not bore the Court with further argument over
this point.

The point of contention that the Appellants do make with regard to the statute is that they claim that Court wrongly decided that Walleys had "unreasonably" denied the grandparent visitation with the grandchildren. To this point the Appellants rely on several cases: *Troxel v. Granville*, 530 U.S. 57, 68, 12 S.Ct. 2054, 2061 (2000); *Stacy v. Ross*, 798 So.2d 1275 (Miss. 2001); and *Hillman v. Vance*, 910 So.2d 43 (Miss.Ct.App. 2005).

The Appellees will first address the arguments forwarded by Appellants under *Troxel v*.

Granville, 530 U.S. 57, 68, 120 S.Ct. 2054 (2000), that the United States Supreme Court has recognized that there is a "presumption that parents act in the best interest of their children."

While it is true that there is a presumption that parents act in the best interest of their children; it

is just that – a presumption. Therefore, the evidence in any given trial may be offered to rebut that presumption as was done in the present case.

The learned Chancellor heard hours of testimony from all sides (the Walleys and the Pierces) wherein he observed the childish, spiteful behavior of the Walleys relative to using their children as pawns in a game of retribution with the Pierces over some hurt feelings related to a physical altercation that took place between Lori Walley and her mother-in-law and sister-in-law. Kathy Pierce, in an effort to take up for her daughter, then got into a physical altercation with the same sister-in-law and after that the Walleys moved from the mobile home that had been provided by the Pierces (in the Pierces backyard) into a rental home several miles away and immediately the daily visits with the grandchildren and the Pierces halted and did not resume except under very strict guidelines determined by the Walleys that numbered in the low single digits over a period of nearly a year.

In the trial transcript, Kathy Pierce (maternal grandmother) testified on direct examination that after the Walleys moved due to the tension that existed between the two families connected to the altercation involving Lori Walley and her mother-in-law and sister-in-law that the visits were severely curtailed and that she tried to smooth over the feelings of the Walley family by going over to the Walley home and attempting to offer an apology so that the visits could resume with her grandchildren. (See Trial Transcript Pages 26-27). During the trial in response to a question about whether Kathy Pierce went to the Walley home to see the children, Kathy Pierce responded as follows:

Q. And you did go to her (Lori Walley) house?

A. (Kathy Pierce) Yes, sir. I went there with the full intentions of apologizing to him (Blake Walley), hoping that the matter would be through. And I knew, at that time, that me and my husband would probably get very little visitation with the children, like we usually had. Which, when they lived on my property, I kept them all day long from morning until evening,

until Blake came home. He probably wasn't even aware of that, but I had both children from early morning until a little bit before he came home. Made it very convenient for Lori, did all of her wash, all of her ironing, helped her clean. Whatever she wanted, I did.

Q. So your testimony now is, before they moved, you were responsible for the children all day long?

A. More so, yes. More so, yes.

In the testimony of Blake Walley, it was also very clear that his idea of the Pierces being welcome at his home anytime for visits with the children was not what most people would consider a truly welcoming environment. It is also transparently clear that there were preconditions of apologies associated with any future visitations that would be allowed by Blake Walley between the Pierces and their grandchildren. (See Trial Transcripts Pages 83-84):

Q. And you said that they're [the Pierces] welcome to come over to your house at anytime, to visit y'all or the children?

A. (Blake Walley) Yes, sir.

Q. Okay. Now, would you agree [with] me that there is a difference in the meaning of the word welcome? If I say, you're welcome to come over to my house at any time, that's one thing, but feeling welcome when I'm over there, would you agree with me that that's something totally different? (Emphasis added)

A. Yes, sir, I would.

Q. Okay. I mean, for instance, do you feel welcome at their [the Pierces] home?

A. No, sir, I don't.

O. And yet have they told you, you can't come over here?

A. One incident, where my wife was talking to them on the phone, they did tell me I was not welcome at a family gathering, which was not at their home, but it was with his side of the family on the 4th of July.

Q. But at their home, have you ever been told, you're not welcome here on this property?

A. No, sir.

Q. And yet you testified that you don't feel welcome there when you're there, correct?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Would you understand how, perhaps, the Pierces would feel exactly like you do? You say they can come over anytime they want to see the children, but they don't feel welcome while they're there to visit freely with the kids. Do you understand how they might feel that way?

A. No, sir, I can't.

Q. But you feel the same way at their house, but you can't understand how they would feel the same way at your house?

A. Well, can I explain?

The Court: Sure.

A. You know, as far as them not being welcome, that's the choice they've - - - I mean, I can't help how they feel. I mean, I don't control their feelings. But the issue is, whether or not we've unreasonably denied the visits - - coming over there. So, I mean, I don't think we've been unreasonable.

Q. Well, I haven't asked you any legal questions about that. I simply asked if you could understand how they would not feel welcome at your house.

A. Okay. No, sir, I can't.

Q. Okay. Fair enough. Now, you also just testified, concerning Mrs. [Kathy] Pierce, if I'm remembering your words correctly, that she's vindictive and manipulative.

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And you stand by those allegations?

A. Yes, sir.

- Q. Okay. Well, knowing that you feel that way about her, would that not be also another reason why she might not feel welcome at your home? Would that help you understand that better?
- A. Well, sir, it's the truth. I mean, so - I mean, the truth hurts sometimes.
- Q. I agree. I completely agree. I'm just simply asking you, knowing that you've testified about her like that in open court, I mean, I wouldn't feel welcome at your house, if that's the way you felt about me. I mean, can you understand how I might not feel welcome at your house if those were your thoughts about me?
- A. Well, what about the past nine months? She's never heard those words come out of my mouth until today.
- Q. Actions speak more loudly than words sometimes, right?
- A. Sometimes.
- Q. Okay. Now, you said, concerning the apologies back and forth to who [m] ever, and I'm really, honestly, not concerned that much about who did what to whom. All I'm trying to get to is the visitation issue, which we're here on today. You said that you didn't require an apology to anyone, but that you recommended an apology both to your family and, possibly, to the church, though you weren't sure if you had recommended that about the church or not; is that right?
- A. I'm not sure if I recommended an apology to the church, but I did recommend one to my family.
- Q. But then you also said that based on rumors that you had heard after that, that you made the determination that her apology to you was not sincere and authentic.
- A. Right.
- Q. So that's the reason that you did not follow up and try to get the families together. Am I misunderstanding what you're saying?
- A. Yes, sir.
- O. Is that correct?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Because you didn't feel like any apology from her would be sincere to them anyway?

A. Right.

It also became abundantly clear during the testimony of Blake Walley that all visitations in the future between his children and the Pierces would have to on his terms. The Trial Court pointed this as the foundations of the unreasonableness that it found in a rivalry that had nothing to do with the grandchildren, and everything to do with the petty differences that these two families had allowed to cloud their judgment with regard to what was in the best interest of the children. (See Trial Transcripts Pages 88-89).

- Q. All right. Now, you said that you want the grandchildren to have a relationship with their grandparents; is that true?
- A. Yes, sir.

. . .

- Q. But it strikes me that when you also said they could come over to your house, it seems to me that you want them to have a relationship, but only on your own terms; is that a fair statement?
- A. Because, as has been mentioned before is that yes or no question? Do I answer, yes, or, no?

The Court: You can answer, yes, or, no, and you can explain your answer.

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